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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Members of KIMS Manavata Hospitals Private Limited
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of KIMS Manavata Hospitals Private Limited (“the Company™),
which comprise the Balance sheet as at March 31 2025, the Statement of Profit and Loss, including the
statement of Other Comprehensive Income, the Cash Flow Statement and the Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of material accounting

policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us , the aforesaid
financial statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013, as amended (“the Act”) in
the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally
accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at March 31, 2025, its loss including other
comprehensive income, its cash flows and the changes in equity for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit of the financial statements in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs), as
specified under section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further described
in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements’ section of our report. We are
independent of the Company in accordance with the ‘Code of Ethics’ issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements under the provisions of the Act and the Rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the

financial statements.

Other Information

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises
the information included in the Director’s Report, but does not include the financial statements and our

auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form
of assurancc conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether such other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
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we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in section 134(5) of the Act with
respect to the preparation of these financial statements that give a true and fair view of the financial position,
financial performance including other comprehensive income, cash flows and changes in equity of the
Company in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the Indian
Accounting Standards (Ind AS) specified under section 133 of the Act read with the Companies (Indian
Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended. This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate
accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the assets of the
Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and application of
appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and the
design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating
effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation
and presentation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

» Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

*  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also responsible for
expressing our opinion on whether the Company has adequate internal financial controls with reference
to financial statements in place and the operating effectiveness of such controls.
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Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a

manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control

that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1.

As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020 (“the Order”), issued by the Central
Government of India in terms of sub-section (11) of section 143 of the Act , we give in the “Annexure 17
a statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order.

As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report, to the extent applicable, that:

(a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit;

(b) In our opinion, proper books of accounts required by law have been kept by the Company so far as
it appears from our examination of those books except for the matters stated in the paragraph 2(i)(vi)
below on reporting under Rule 11(g);

(c) The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss including the Statement of Other
Comprehensive Income, the Cash Flow Statement and Statement of Changes in Equity dealt with by
this Report are in agreement with the books of account;

(d) In our opinion, the aforesaid financial statements comply with the Accounting Standards specified
under Section 133 of the Act, read with Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as
amended, specified under section 133 of the Act;

(¢) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on March 31, 2025 taken
on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on March 31, 2025 from
being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164 (2) of the Act;
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(f) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to these financial
statements and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report in “Annexure

2” to this report

(8) In our opinion, the managerial remuneration for the year ended March 31, 2025 has been paid /
provided by the Company to its directors in accordance with the provisions of section 197 read with
Schedule V to the Act;

(h) The modification relating to the maintenance of accounts and other matters connected therewith are
as stated in the paragraph 2(b) above on reporting under Section 143(3)(b) and paragraph 2(i)(vi)
below on reporting under Rule 11(g);

(i) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11
of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, as amended in our opinion and to the best of
our information and according to the explanations given to us:

i.

ii.

iil.

iv.

The Company does not have any pending litigations which would impact its financial position;

The Company did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for which
there were any material foreseeable losses

There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education and
Protection Fund by the Company.

a) The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, no funds have
been advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds or share premium or any other
sources or kind of funds) by the Company to or in any other person(s) or entity(ies), including
foreign entities (“Intermediaries”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or
otherwise, that the Intermediary shall, whether, directly or indirectly lend or invest in other
persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Company
(“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the
Ultimate Beneficiaries;
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b) The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, no funds have
been received by the Company from any person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities
(“Funding Parties”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the
Company shall, whether, directly or indirectly, lend or invest in other persons or entities
identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party (“Ultimate
Beneficiaries™) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate

Beneficiaries; and

¢) Based on such audit procedures performed that have been considered reasonable and
appropriate in the circumstances, nothing has come to our notice that has caused us to believe
that the representations under sub-clause (a) and (b) contain any material misstatement.

No dividend has been declared or paid during the year by the Company.

The Company has migrated to new accounting software from legacy accounting software
during the year on September 01, 2024. Based on our examination which included test checks,
the Company has used accounting softwares for maintaining its books of accounts which has a
feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility and the same has operated throughout the year
for all relevant transactions recorded in the softwares, except in respect of new accounting
software where audit trail feature is not enabled for direct changes to data when using certain
access rights from September 01, 2024 to March 25, 2025, as described in note 2.37 to the
financial statements. Further, during the course of our audit, we did not come across any
instance of audit trail feature being tampered with in respect of the accounting software used
where the audit trail has been enabled. Additionally, the audit trail of prior year has been
preserved by the Company as per the statutory requirements for record retention to the extent
it was enabled and recorded in the respective year.

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm Registration Number: 101049W/E300004

M\MJ’Q)-"//

per Navneet Rai Kabra

Partner

Membership Number: 102328
UDIN: 25102328BMOPZH4768

Place of Signature: Hyderabad
Date: May 10, 2025
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ANNEXURE ‘1’ REFERRED TO IN PARAGRAPH UNDER THE HEADING “REPORT ON
OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS” OF OUR REPORT OF EVEN DATE

RE: KIMS MANAVATA HOSPITALS PRIVATE LIMITEDCTHE COMPANY")

In terms of the information and explanations sought by us and given by the Company and the books
of account and records examined by us in the normal course of audit and to the best of our knowledge

and belief, we state that:

) (a) A. The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars, including
quantitative details and situation of Property, plant and equipment.

B. The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars of intangible assets.

(b)  All Property, plant and equipment have not been physically verified by the management
during the year but there is a planned programme of verifying them once in three years which,
in our opinion, is reasonable having regard to the size of the Company and the nature of its
assets. No material discrepancies were noticed on such verification.

(¢c) The title deeds of all the immovable properties (other than properties where the Company is
the lessee and the lease agreements are duly executed in favour of the lessee) are held in the

name of the Company.

(d) The Company has not revalued its Property, Plant and Equipment (including right-of-use
assets) or intangible assets during the year ended March 31, 2025.

(e)  There are no proceedings initiated or are pending against the Company for holding any benami
property under the Prohibition of Benami Property Transactions Act, 1988 and rules made

thereunder.

(ii) (a) The management has conducted physical verification of inventory at reasonable intervals
during the year. In our opinion, the coverage and the procedure of such verification by the
management is appropriate. There were no discrepancies of 10% or more in aggregate for
each class of inventory.

(b) The Company has not been sanctioned working capital limits in excess of Rs. five crores in
aggregate from banks or financial institutions during any point of time of the year on the basis
of security of current assets. Accordingly, the requirement to report on clause 3(ii)(b) of the
Order is not applicable to the Company.
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(iii)

(iv)

)

(vi)

(vii)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)
®

(a)

During the year, the Company has provided loans to companies as follows:

(Rs. In Mn)
Particulars Loans
Aggregate amount granted/ provided during the year
-Others 38
Balance outstanding as at balance sheet date in respect of
above cases
- Others 28

During the year the terms and conditions of the grant of all loans to company are not
prejudicial to the Company's interest.

The Company has granted loans during the year to company where the schedule of repayment
of principal and payment of interest has been stipulated and the repayment or receipts are
regular.

There are no amounts of loans granted to the company which are overdue for more than ninety
days.

There were no loans granted to the company which had fallen due during the year.

The Company has not granted any loans, either repayable on demand or without specifying
any terms or period of repayment to the company. Accordingly, the requirement to report on
clause 3(iii)(f) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

There are no loans, investments, guarantees, and security in respect of which provisions of
sections 185 and 186 of the Companies Act, 2013 are applicable and accordingly, the
requirement to report on clause 3(iv) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

The Company has neither accepted any deposits from the public nor accepted any amounts
which are deemed to be deposits within the meaning of sections 73 to 76 of the Companies
Act and the rules made thereunder, to the extent applicable. Accordingly, the requirement to
report on clause 3(v) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

Since the Company has commenced commercial operations of medical and healthcare
services from the current year, the requirements relating to report on clause 3(vi) of
the Order are not applicable to the Company.

The Company is regular in depositing with appropriate authorities undisputed statutory dues
including goods and services tax, provident fund, employees’ state insurance, income-tax,
cess and other statutory dues applicable to it. According to the information and explanations
given to us and based on audit procedures performed by us, no undisputed amounts payable
in respect of these statutory dues were outstanding, at the year end, for a period of more than
six months from the date they became payable.
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(viii)

(ix)

)

(xi)

(b)

(b)

(c)
(d)

(e)

®

(a)

(b)

(b)

©

There are no dues of goods and services tax, provident fund, employees’ state insurance,
income tax, sales-tax, service tax, cess, and other statutory dues which have not been deposited

on account of any dispute.

The Company has not surrendered or disclosed any transaction, previously unrecorded in the
books of account, in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 as income during
the year. Accordingly, the requirement to report on clause 3(viii) of the Order is not applicable

to the Company.

The Company has not defaulted in repayment of loans or other borrowings or in the payment
of interest thereon to any lender.

The Company has.not been declared willful defaulter by any bank or financial institution or
government or any government authority.

Term loans were applied for the purpose for which the loans were obtained.

On an overall examination of the financial statements of the Company, no funds raised on
short-term basis have been used for long-term purposes by the Company.

The Company does not have any subsidiary, associate or joint venture. Accordingly, the
requirement to report on clause 3(ix)(e) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

The Company does not have any subsidiary, associate or joint venture. Accordingly, the
requirement to report on clause 3(ix)(e) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

The Company has not raised any money during the year by way of initial public offer / further
public offer (including debt instruments) hence, the requirement to report on clause 3(x)(a) of
the Order is not applicable to the Company.

The Company has complied with provisions of sections 42 and 62 of the Companies Act, 2013
in respect of the private placement of shares during the year. The funds raised, have been used
for the purposes for which the funds were raised.

No material fraud by the Company or no material fraud on the Company has been noticed or
reported during the year.

During the year, no report under sub-section (12) of section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013
has been filed by cost auditor, secretarial auditor or by us in Form ADT — 4 as prescribed
under Rule 13 of Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 with the Central Government.

As represented to us by the management, there are no whistle blower complaints received by
the Company during the year.
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(xii)

(xiii)

xiv)

(xv)

(xvi)

()

(b)

©

(b)

(b)

©

(d)

The Company is not a nidhi Company as per the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013.
Therefore, the requirement to report on clause 3(xii)(a) of the Order are not applicable to the

Company.

The Company is not a nidhi Company as per the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013.
Therefore, the requirement to report on clause 3(xii)(b) of the Order are not applicable to the

Company.

The Company is not a nidhi Company as per the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013.
Therefore, the requirement to report on clause 3(xii)(c) of the Order are not applicable to the

Company.

Transactions with the related parties are in compliance with sections 177 and 188 of
Companies Act, 2013 where applicable and the details have been disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements, as required by the applicable accounting standards.

The Company has an internal audit system commensurate with the size and nature of its
business.

The internal audit reports of the Company issued till the date of the audit report, for the period
under audit have been considered by us.

The Company has not entered into any non-cash transactions with its directors or persons
connected with its directors and hence requirement to report on clause 3(xv) of the Order is
not applicable to the Company.

The provisions of section 45-IA of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 (2 of 1934) are not
applicable to the Company. Accordingly, the requirement to report on clause (xvi)(a) of the
Order is not applicable to the Company.

The Company is not engaged in any Non-Banking Financial or Housing Finance activities.
Accordingly, the requirement to report on clause (xvi)(b) of the Order is not applicable to the

Company.

The Company is not a Core Investment Company as defined in the regulations made by
Reserve Bank of India. Accordingly, the requirement to report on clause 3(xvi)(c) of the Order
is not applicable to the Company.

There is no core Investment Company as a part of the group, hence requirement to report on
clause 3(xvi)((d) of the order is not applicable to the Company.

The Company has incurred cash losses amounting to Rs 196 Mn in the current year and
amounting to Rs 1 Mn in the immediately preceding financial year respectively.

There has been no resignation of the statutory auditors during the year and accordingly
requirement to report on Clause 3(xviii) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.
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(xix)

(xx)

(a)

(b)

On the basis of the financial ratios disclosed in note 2.35 to the financial statements, ageing
and expected dates of realization of financial assets and payment of financial liabilities, other
information accompanying the financial statements, our knowledge of the Board of Directors
and management plans and based on our examination of the evidence supporting the
assumptions, nothing has come to our attention, which causes us to believe that any material
uncertainty exists as on the date of the audit report that Company is not capable of meeting its
liabilities existing at the date of balance sheet as and when they fall due within a period of one
year from the balance sheet date. We, however, state that this is not an assurance as to the
future viability of the Company. We further state that our reporting is based on the facts up to
the date of the audit report and we neither give any guarantee nor any assurance that all
liabilities falling due within a period of one year from the balance sheet date, will get
discharged by the Company as and when they fall due.

The provisions of Section 135 to the Companies Act, 2013 in relation to Corporate Social
Responsibility is not applicable to the Company. Accordingly, the requirement to report on
clause 3(xx)(a) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

The provisions of Section 135 to the Companies Act, 2013 in relation to Corporate Social
Responsibility is not applicable to the Company. Accordingly, the requirement to report on
clause 3(xx)(b) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm Registration Number: 101049W/E300004

de:ul fan‘ [ —T

per Navneet Rai Kabra

Partner

Membership Number: 102328
UDIN: 25102328BMOPZH4768
Place of Signature: Hyderabad

Date: May 10, 2025
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ANNEXURE 2 TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT OF EVEN DATE ON THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF KIMS MANAVATA HOSPITALS PRIVATE LIMITED

Report on the Internal Financial Controls under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)

We have audited the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of KIMS Manavata
Hospitals Private Limited (“the Company”) as of March 31, 2025 in conjunction with our audit of the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The Company’s Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls
based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company considering the
essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls
Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (“ICAI”). These
responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls
that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including
adherence to the Company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds
and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable
financial information, as required under the Companies Act, 2013.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal financial controls with reference to
these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note
on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting (the “Guidance Note™) and the Standards
on Auditing, as specified under section 143(10) of the Act, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal
financial controls, both issued by ICAI. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate
internal financial controls with reference to these financial statements was established and maintained and if
such controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal
financial controls with reference to these financial statements and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of
internal financial controls with reference to financial statements included obtaining an understanding of
internal financial controls with reference to these financial statements, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based
on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls with reference to these financial statements.
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Meaning of Internal Financial Controls With Reference to these Financial Statements

A company's internal financial controls with reference to financial statements is a process designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's
internal financial controls with reference to financial statements includes those policies and procedures that
(1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions
are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance
with authorisations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls With Reference to Financial Statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements,
including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements
due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal
financial controls with reference to financial statements to future periods are subject to the risk that the
internal financial control with reference to financial statements may become inadequate because of changes
in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Opinion

In our opinion, the Company has, in all material respects, adequate internal financial controls with reference
to financial statements and such internal financial controls with reference to financial statements were
operating effectively as at March 31, 2025, based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria
established by the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance

Note issued by the ICAL

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm Registration Number: 101049W/E300004

ned 0 —1

per Navneet Rai Kabra

Partner

Membership Number: 102328
UDIN: 25102328BMOPZH4768
Place of Signature: Hyderabad
Date: May 10, 2025




KIMS Manavata Hospitals Private Limited

CIN:U85300MH2022PTC382434

Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2025

(All amounts are in million of Indian Rupecs cxcept share data or unless othenwise slated)

Asat As at
Note 31 March 2025 31 March 2024
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and cquipment 2.l(a) 1,902 0
Capital work-in-progress 2,1(b) 6 583
Inangible assets 2.1(a) 3 1]
Right-of-use ussels 224 228 230
Financial Assct
(D) Other Financial Asset 2.6 (8) 41 =
Non-cwiteni (ux asseis (net) 27 0 0
Delened tax assels (nel) 232 62 =
Other non-currenl assets 22 30 200
Total non-current assets 2,272 1,013
Current assefs
Inventories 2.4 21 B
Financial assels
(1} Trude receivables 29 63 -
(ii} Cash und cush equivalents 2.5 () 20 s
(iii) Bank balances other than (i) above 2.5(b) 45 1]
~(iv) Loans 2.8 28 -
(v) Other financial asscts 26(b) 10 0
Other current assets 23 L 5
"Total current assets 196 10
Tota] assets 2,468 1,023
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
EQUITY
Equily share capital 2.10(a) 10 10
Instruments entirely equity in nature 2.10(b) 713 490
Other equily 2.10(c) 4 218
Total equity 74 718
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilitics
Financial liabilities
(i) Borrowings 2.11(a) 1,156 229
(ii} Lease Liabilities 224 7 7
(1ii) Other linancial habilities 2.12(a) 54 s
Provisions 2.13(a) 0 -
Total nun-current liabilities 1217 251
Current lisbilities
Financinl linbiliti
(i) Borrowings 2.11(b) 926 -
(ii} Trude payables 2.14
(a) Tolal vutstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises 1 -
(b) Total outstunding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small 67
enlerprises
(1ii) Other {inancis| lisbilities 2.12(b) N 51
Other cuirent liabilities 218 10 !
Provisions 2.13(b) 7]
Tatal current liabilities 487 54
Total equity and liabilities 2.468 1.023
"0" represents less than Rs. 1 million
Muterial acevunting policies L3

The accampanying notes raferied to above form an integral part of the financial staiements.

As per our report ot even date attached
for 8.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP For and On behall of the Bourd of Direclors
Chartered Accountants KIMS Manuvata Hospitals Private Limited
1R Firm Regiswarion ne. 101043 E300004 ]
-~
' . W / W
AN W / Q)

Kodali Venkata Krishna Kumar Dr Raj Vfaniran Nagﬂrkar
Dircctor Managing Darectur
DIN: 00479923 DIN: 01850180

n / l/ B
{2 vt
Bommugini Madhukar

u/»\ -
Chiel Financial Officer

per Novoeel Rol Kabra
Pariner
Membership no.: 102328

Pooju Bang
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KIMS Manavata Hospitals Private Limited
CIN:U85300MH2022PTC382434
Statement of Profi and Loss for the year ended 31 March 2025

(All amounts are in million of Indian Rupecs cxcept share data or unless otherwise stated)

Note For the year cnded For the year ended
31 March 2025 31 March 2024

Income
Revenue from operations 2.16 144 =
Other income 2.17 6 0
Total Income 150 0
Expenses
Purchase of medical consumables, drugs and surgical instruments 63
Increase in inventories of medical consumables, drugs and surgical 2,18 21
instruments @
Employee benefits expense 2.19 78 =
Finance costs 220 55 -
Depreciation and amortisation expense 221 43 0
Other expenses 222 171 1
Total expenses 389 I
Loss before tax (239) (1)
Tax expense
- Current tux - -
- Deferred tax credit 2,32 (62) =
Total tax expense (62) -
Loss for the period (A) (177) [1)]
Other comprehensive income (B)
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss
-~ Re-measurement gain on defined benefit plans 0 -
- Income tax eftect 0 -
Other comprehensive income, net of tax 0 -
Total Comprehensive loss for the year (A+B) (177) (48]
Earning per share (face valuc of share Rs. 10 each) 227
- Basic (Rs.) (239.00) 0.71)
- Diluted (Rs.) (239.00) 0.71)
"0" represents less than Rs. | million
Material accounting policics 13

The accompanying notes referred to above form an integral part of the financial statements.
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KIMS Manavata Hospitals Private Limited
CIN:U85300MH2022PTC382434

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 March 2025

(All amounts are in million of Indian Rupees except share dala or unless olherwise stated)

Particulars

1. Cash [lows from operating activities:

For the year ended
31 March 2025

For the year ended
31 March 2024

Loss before tax (239) )
Adjustments for operating nctivities:
Dcprevciation and amortisalion expense 43 0
Interest expense 55 -
Interest income (6) 3
Operating cash flows before working capital changes (147) (0}
Adjustments
Inerease m inveniones 2n
Increase in trade receivables (63) -
Increase in other assets (65) (&)
Increase in trade payables, other financial liabilitics, provisions and other liabilities 77 2
Cash used in operations (219) @)
Income-taxes paid, net of refund - 0
Net cush flows used in operating activitics (A) 219 {4)
T1. Cush fows from investing activitles
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (869) (562)
Loans given during the yenr 39 -
Receiplts of Loans 1
Investment in bank deposits (having original malurity of more than three months) (45)
[nterest received 0 1
Net cash flows used in investing activities (B) {942) (561)
111, Cash flows from finnncing activities
Proceeds from long term borrowings 974 279
Procceds from shart term borrowings (net) 49 -
Repayment of long term borrowings - (50)
Procceds from issuc of optionally convertible recdemable preference shares 223 315
Interest cost paid (70 (2)
Net cash Mows generated from fnancing activities (C) 1,176 74
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) 15 (23)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 5 28
Cash und cash equivalents at the end of the year 20 5
Notes
u) The statement of cash Nows has been prepared under the "Indirect Method" as set out in the Indian ing Standord (Ind 7)-Si ol cash flows:
. 9 . For the year ended For the year ended
b) Cash and cash cquivalents comprises of: 11 March 2025 31n o
Cash on hand | 0
On current accounts 19 5
20 5

0 represents fess than Rs. | million

The accompanying notes referred to above form an integral part of the financial statements
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KIMS Manavata Hospitals Private Limited
CIN:U85300MH2022PTC382434

Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 March 2025

(All amounts are in million of Indian Rupees except share data or unless otherwise stated)

a) Equity Share Capital

At 31 Murch 2025

\Equity shares of Rs. 10 each issucd, subseribed and fully paid No.ol Shares Amount

At 01 April 2023 10,00,000 10

Add: Shares issucd during the year - -

At 31 March 2024 10,00,000 10

Add: Shares issued during the year - =

At 31 March 2025 10,00,000 10

b) Instruments entively equity in nature

Optionally convertible redeemable preference shares of Rs 10 each issued, subscribed and fully paid No.of Shares Amount

A1 01 April 2023 1,75,00,000 175

Add: Shares issued during the year 3,15,00,000 315

Al 31 March 2024 4,90,00,000 490

Adhd: Shares issued durmg the year 2,22.82.850 223
7,12,82,850 713

¢) Other equity

Particulars Other equity Total of other
Reserve and surplus equity
Captial Retained earnings Other
Contribution Comprehensive
Income
Balance as at 01 April 2023 224 (5) - 219
Loss for the year - (H - (h
Balance as at 31 March 2024 224 (6) - 218
Loss for the year - 177) = a7
Other comprehensive income for the vew - ~ 4] 0
Balance as aut 31 March 2025 224 (183) 0 41

0 represents less than Rs. | million

The accompanying notes referred to above form an integral part of the financial statements.

As per our report of even date attached

for S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP
Chartered Accountants
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Krishna Manavata Hospitals Private Limited

CIN: U85300MH2022PT(C382434

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025

(All amounts are in million of Indian Rupees, except share data or unless otherwise stated)

1.1 Company Overview
Krishna Manavata Hospitals Private Limited (‘the Company’) is a private company domiciled in India and

incorporated on 11 May 2022 under the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 in India. The registered office of
the Company is located at Survey no 571/1A/1, Plot no 63, Mumbai Agra highway, Nashik-422 001.

The Company is primarily engaged in the business of rendering medical and healthcare services.

The financial statements were approved for issue by the Company’s Board of Directors on 10 May 2025.

1.2 Basis of preparation of financial statements

a) Statement of Compliances:

The financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 31 March 2025, have been prepared in
accordance with requirements of Indian Accounting Standards (“Ind AS™), as prescribed under Section 133 of the
Companies Act, 2013 (‘Act’) read with Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules 2015, as amended, and

other accounting principles generally accepted in India and presentation requirements of Division II of Schedule
[II of the Act.

All amounts are in Indian Rupees millions, except share data, unless otherwise stated.

b) Basis of measurement:

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following items:

Items Measurement basis
Certain financial assets and liabilities Fair value - refer accounting policy regarding financial
instruments
_Net defined benefit (asset)/ liability Defined benefit plan - plan assets measured at fair value

¢) Functional and presentation currency:

The financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees. which is also the Company’s functional currency. All
amounts are in Indian Rupees millions rounded to the nearest million, except share data and per share data, unless
otherwise stated.

d) New and amended standards

The Company applied for the first-time certain standards and amendments, which are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 April 2024. The Company has not early adopted any standard, interpretation or amendment
that has been issued but is not yet effective.

e Ind AS 117 Insurance Contracts
¢ Amendment to Ind AS 116 Leases — Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

These amendments had no impact on the financial statements of the company.




Krishna Manavata Hospitals Private Limited

CIN: U85300MH2022PTC382434

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025

(All amounts are in million of Indian Rupees, except share data or unless otherwise stated)

e) Standards notified but not yet effective

There are no standards that are notified and not yet effective as on the date.

f) Significant accounting judgement, estimates and assumptions:

The preparation of Company’s financial statements in conformity with the recognition and measurement
principles of Ind AS requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
balances of revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities, accompanying disclosures and the disclosure of contingent
liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods.

Estimates and assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year, are described below. The Company based its assumptions and estimates on parameters
available when the financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future
developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control
of the Company. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

Taxes

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine the
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable
profits together with future tax planning strategies. Refer Note 2.32 — Recognition of deferred tax assets,
availability of future taxable profit against which tax losses carried forward can be used.

Defined benefit plans (gratuity benefits)

The cost of the defined benefit gratuity plan and other post-employment medical benefits and the present value of
the gratuity obligation are determined using actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves making various
assumptions that may differ from actual developments in the future. These include the determination of the
discount rate, future salary increases and mortality rates. Due to the complexities involved in the valuation and its
long-term nature, a defined benefit obligation is highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions
are reviewed at each reporting date. Refer Note 2.25 - Measurement of defined benefit obligations, key actuarial
assumptions.

The parameter most subject to change is the discount rate. In determining the appropriate discount rate for plans
operated in India, the management considers the interest rates of government bonds where remaining maturity of
such bond correspond to expected term of defined benefit obligation.




Krishna Manavata Hospitals Private Limited

CIN: U85300MH2022PTC382434

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025

(All amounts are in million of Indian Rupees, except share data or unless otherwise stated)

1.3  Material accounting policies
A. Current and non-current classification

The Company presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheet based current and non-current classification.

Assets

An asset is classified as current when it satisfies any of the following criteria:

1. it is expected to be realised in, or is intended for sale or consumption in, the company’s normal operating
cycle;

ii.  itis held primarily for the purpose of being traded;

lii.  itis expected to be realised within 12 months after the reporting date; or

iv.  itis cash or cash equivalent unless it is restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at
least 12 months after the reporting date.

All other assets are classified as non-current.
Liabilities

A habillty is classified as current when it satisfies any of the following criteria:

i it is expected to be settled in the company’s normal operating cycle;

il it is held primarily for the purpose of being traded;

iii. it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting date; or

iv.  the company does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months
after the reporting date.

All other liabilities are classified as non-current.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as noncurrent assets and liabilities,
Operating cycle

The operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realisation in cash and
cash equivalents. The Company has identified twelve months as its operating cycle.

B. Fair value measurement:

The Company measures financial instruments, such as, derivatives at fair value at each balance sheet date. Fair
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

* In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
* Inthe absence vl principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Company. The fair value of an asset or
a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.




Krishna Manavata Hospitals Private Limited

CIN: U85300MH2022PT(C382434

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025

(All amounts are in million of Indian Rupees, except share data or unless otherwise stated)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data is
available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement as a whole:

- Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

= Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

- Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Company
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.

The Company's Board of Directors determines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair value
measurement and for other non-recurring measurement.

At each reporting date, the Management analyses the movements in the values of assets and liabilities which are
required to be re measured or re-assessed as per the Company's accounting policies. For this analysis, the
Management verifies the major inputs applied in the latest valuation by agreeing the information in the valuation
computation to contracts and other relevant documents.

The Management also compares the change in the fair value of each asset and liability with relevant external
sources to determine whether the change is reasonable.

Periodically, the Management present the valuation results to the Board of Directors and the Company's
independent auditors. This includes a discussion of the major assumptions used in the valuations.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Company has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis
of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained
above.

The Company recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period
during which the change has occurred. Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values
is included in Note 2.31 — financial instruments.




Krishna Manavata Hospitals Private Limited

CIN: U85300MH2022PTC382434

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025

(All amounts are in million of Indian Rupees, except share data or unless otherwise stated)

C. Revenue from contract with customer

The Company’s revenue from medical and healthcare services comprises of revenue from hospital services and
revenue from pharmacy items. The Company has generally concluded that it is the principal in its revenue
arrangements, because it typically controls the goods or services before transferring them to the customer.

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services are transferred to the
customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services.

Revenue from hospital services comprises of fees charged for inpatient and outpatient hospital services. The
performance obligations for this stream of revenue include accommodation, surgery, medical/clinical professional
services, food and beverages, investigation and supply of pharmaceutical and related products.

Revenue is measured based on the transaction price, which is the fixed consideration adjusted for components of
variable consideration which constitutes discounts, estirnated disallowances and any other rights and obligations
as specified in the contract with the customer. Revenue also excludes taxes collected from customers and
deposited back to the respective statutory authorities. With respect to the inpatients hospital services who are
undergoing treatment/ observation on the balance sheet date, revenue is recognised over the period to the extent
of services rendered.

Revenue from pharmacy and food and beverages (other than hospital services), where the performance obligation
is satisfied at a point in time, is recognised when the control of goods is transferred to the customer.

If the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the Company estimates the amount of consideration
to which it will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods to the customer. The variable consideration is
estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved. The Company applies the most likely amount method or the expected
value method to estimate the variable consideration in the contract. The selected method that best predicts the
amount of variable consideration is primarily driven by the number of volume thresholds contained in the contract.
The most likely amount is used for those contracts with a single volume threshold, while the expected value
method is used for those with more than one volume threshold. The Company then applies the requirements on
constraining estimates in order to determine the amount of variable consideration that can be included in the
transaction price and recognised as revenue.

Contract balances

Unbilled revenue represents value to the extent of medical and healthcare services rendered to the patients who
are undergoing treatment/ observation on the balance sheet date and is not billed as at the balance sheet date.

Unbilled revenue are subject to impairment assessment. Refer to accounting policies on impairment of financial
assets in section (m) Financial instruments — initial recognition and subsequent measurement,

A receivable is recognised if an amount of consideration that is unconditional (i.e., only the passage of time is
required before payment of the consideration is due). Refer to accounting policies of financial assets in section
(m) Financial instruments — initial recognition and subsequent measurement.




Krishna Manavata Hospitals Private Limited

CIN: U85300MH2022PTC382434

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025

(All amounts are in million of Indian Rupees, except share data or unless otherwise stated)

A contract liability is recognised if a payment is received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a
customer before the Company transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Company performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to the

customer).

Other Income

Interest on deposits, loans and debt instruments are measured at amortized cost. Interest income is recorded using
the Effective Interest Rate (EIR). EIR is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or
receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset or to the amortized cost of a financial liability. When calculating the
effective interest rate, the Company estimates the expected cash flows by considering all the contractual terms of
the financial instrument (for example, prepayment, extension, call and similar options) but does not consider the
expected credit losses. Interest income is included in other income in the statement of profit and loss.

D. Income tax

The Income-tax expense comprises current tax and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit and loss except to the
extent that is relates to an item recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.

Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or
substantively enacted, at the reporting date in the country where the Company operates and generates taxable
income.

Current income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss (either in
other comprehensive income or in equity). Current tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying
transaction either in OCI or directly in equity. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes
provisions where appropriate.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

e When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

e In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
interests in joint ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and
it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.




Krishna Manavata Hospitals Private Limited

CIN: U85300MH2022PT(C382434

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025

(All amounts are in million of Indian Rupees, except share data or unless otherwise stated)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax credits
and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits
and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

*  When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences

* In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the
asset is realised, or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss (either in other
comprehensive income or in equity). Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction
either in OCI or directly in equity.

The Company offsets deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right
to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets
are expected to be settled or recovered.

Goods and Service taxes paid on acquisition of assets or on incurring expenses

Expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of Goods and service taxes paid, except:

*  When the tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in
which case, the tax paid is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense
item, as applicable

¢ When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of tax included

The net amount of tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or
payables in the balance sheet.




Krishna Manavata Hospitals Private Limited

CIN: U85300MH2022PTC382434

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025

(All amounts are in million of Indian Rupees, except share data or unless otherwise stated)

E.  Property, plant and equipment

Freehold land is carried at cost net of accumulated impairment, if any. All other items of property, plant and
equipment are stated at cost, net of tax / duty credit availed, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any. Cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price, including
import duties and non-refundable purchase taxes, after deducting trade discounts and rebates, any directly
attributable cost of bringing the item to its working condition for its intended use and edtimated costs of
dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it located. Such cost includes the cost of
replacing part of the plant and equipment and borrowing costs for long-term construction projects if the
recognition criteria are met. When significant parts of plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Company depreciates them separately based on their specific useful lives. All other repair and maintenance
costs are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit and loss as incurred.

Capital work in progress is stated at cost, net of accumulated impairment loss, if any.

The cost of self-constructed item of property, plant and equipment comprises the cost of materials and direct
labour, any other cost directly attributable to bringing the item to working conditions for its intended use, and
estimated costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located.

Amounts paid towards the acquisition of property, plant and equipment outstanding as of each reporting date are
recognised as capital advance and the cost of property, plant and equipment not ready for intended use before
such date are disclosed under capital work-in-progress.

Derecognition

The carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized on disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. The gain or loss arising from the de-recognition of an
item of property, plant and equipment is measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and is recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss when the item is derecognized.

Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on the straight-line method, based on the useful life of the assets as estimated by the
management. The management believes that these estimated useful lives are realistic and reflect fair
approximation of the period over which the assets are likely to be used. The Company has estimated the following
useful lives to provide depreciation on its Property, plant and equipment which are in compliance with the
Schedule I of Companies Act, 2013:

Category of Assets Useful life (In years)
Buildings 60

Medical and surgical equipment 13-14

Plant and equipment 15

Office equipment 5

Electrical equipment 10

Computers 3-6

Furniture and fixtures 10

Vehicles 8
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CIN: U85300MH2022PTC382434

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025

(All amounts are in million of Indian Rupees, except share data or unless otherwise stated)

Based on the planned usage of certain specific assets and technical assessment, the management has estimated the
useful lives of Property, plant and equipment which are different from the useful life prescribed in Schedule II to
the Companies Act, 2013 for the following:

* Individual asset not exceeding Rs. 5,000 have been fully depreciated in the year of purchase.
* Leasehold land is in the nature of perpetual lease without any limited useful life is not amortised.

The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment are reviewed at
each financial year end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. In particular, the Company considers the impact
of health, safety and environmental legislation in its assessment of expected useful lives and estimated residual

values.
F.  Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition,
intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Internally generated intangibles, excluding capitalised development costs, are not capitalised and the related
expenditure is reflected in profit or loss in the period in which the expenditure is incurred.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting
period. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits
embodied in the asset are considered to modify the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated
as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised
in the statement of profit and loss unless such expenditure forms part of carrying value of another asset.

Derecognition

An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal (i.e., at the date the recipient obtains control) or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising upon derecognition of the asset
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included
in the statement of profit and loss. when the asset is derecognised.

Amortisation

The estimated useful life of an identifiable intangible asset is based on a number of factors including the effects
of obsolescence, demand, competition and other economic factors (such as the stability of the industry and known
technological advances) and the level of maintenance expenditures required to obtain the expected future cash
flows from the asset.

The estimated useful lives of intangibles are as follows:
Category of Assets Useful life (In years)
Software 6
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G. Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily
takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the
asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest
and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing cost also includes
exchange differences to the extent regarded as an adjustment to the borrowing costs.

H. Leases

The Company assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Company as a lessee

The Company applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets. The Company recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use
assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

i) Right-of-use assets

The Company recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying
asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Company at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the
exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset. The right-of-
use assets are also subject to impairment. Refer to the accounting policies of Impairment of non-financial assets.

ii) Lease Liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Company recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value
of Icasc payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Company and payments of penalties
for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Company exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease

payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce
inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for
the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an
option to purchase the underlying asset.
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iii) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Company applies the short-term lease recognition exemption for those leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option.

The Company also applies the low-value asset recognition exemption on a lease-by-lease basis, if the lease
qualifies as leases of low-value assets, with a value of up to Rs. 10 mn on date of recognistion. In making this
assessment, the Group also factors below key aspects:

o The assessment is conducted on an absolute basis and is independent of the size, nature, or
circumstances of the lessee.

¢ The assessment is based on the value of the asset when new, regardless of the asset's age at the time of
the lease.

o The lessee can benefit from the use of the underlying asset either independently or in combination with
other readily available resources, and the asset is not highly dependent on or interrelated with other
assets.

e Ifthe asset is subleased or expected to be subleased, the head lease does not qualify as a lease of a low-
value asset.

Based on the above criteria, the Group has classified multiple leases such as IT equipment, office equipments,
accommodations for hospital and nursing staff etc. as leases of low value assets.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

I. Inventories

The inventories comprising of medical consumables, drugs and surgical instruments are measured at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is based on the monthly moving weighted average method.
Cost includes cost of purchase and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and
condition and also includes expenditure incurred towards Goods and Services Tax (GST) wherever credit is not
available. The comparison of cost and net realisable value is made on an item by item basis.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business.

The factors that the Company considers in determining the allowance for slow moving, obsolete and other non-
saleable inventory include estimated shelf life and price changes. The Company considers all these factors and
adjusts the inventory provision to reflect its actual experience on a periodic basis.

J. Impairment of non-financial assets

The Company assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any
indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Company estimates the asset’s
recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s (CGU)
fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets. When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered
impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.
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In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
In determining net selling price, recent market transactions are taken into account, if available. If no such
transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used.

The Company bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations which are prepared
separately for each of the Company’s cash-generating units to which the individual assets are allocated. These
budgets and forecast calculations are generally covering a period of five years. For longer periods, a long-term
growth rate is calculated and applied to project future cash flows after the fifth year. To estimate cash flow
projections beyond periods covered by the most recent budgets/forecasts, the Company extrapolates cash flow
projections in the budget using a steady or declining growth rate for subsequent years, unless an increasing rate
can be justified. In any case, this growth rate does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the products,
industries in which the Company operates, or for the market in which the asset is used.

An assessment is made for all assets at each reporting date to determine whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses no longer exist or have decreased. If such indication exists, the Company
estimates the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if
there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last
impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed
its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation,
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the statement
of profit and loss unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case, the reversal is treated as a
revaluation increase.

K. Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. When the Company expects some
or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the expense relating to a provision is presented in the statement of profit
and loss net of any reimbursement.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that
reflects, when appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision
due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date.

L. Retirement and other employee benefits

Defined contribution plans

Retirement benefit in the form of provident fund is a defined contribution scheme. The Company has no
obligation, other than the contribution payable to the provident fund. The Company recognizes contribution
payable to the provident fund scheme as an expense, when an employee renders the related service. If the
contribution payable to the scheme for service received before the balance sheet date exceeds the contribution
already paid, the deficit payable to the scheme is recognized as a liability after deducting the contribution already
paid. If the contribution already paid exceeds the contribution due for services received before the balance sheet
date, then excess is recognized as an asset to the extent that the pre-payment will lead to, for example, a reduction
in future payment or a cash refund.
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Defined benefit plans

The Company’s gratuity benefit scheme is a defined benefit plan. The Company’s net obligation in respect of a
defined benefit plan is calculated by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have eammed and
returned for services in the current and prior periods: that benefit is discounted to determine its present value. The
calculation of Company’s obligation under the plan is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the
projected unit eredit method,

The gratuity scheme is administered by third party. Re-measurements of the net defined henefit liability, which
comprise actuarial gains and losses, the return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling
(if any, excluding interest), are recognised immediately in the Balance Sheet with a corresponding debit or credit
to retained earnings through OCI in the period in which they occur. Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit
or loss in subsequent periods.

The Company determines the net interest expense (income) on the net defined liability (assets) for the period by
applying the discount rate used to measure the net defined obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the
then-net defined benefit liability (asset), taking into account any changes to the defined benefit liability (asset) as
a result of contribution and benefit payments. Net interest expense and other expenses related to defined benefit
plans are recognised in the statement of profit and loss. The Company recognises gains and losses in the
curtailment or settlement of a defined benefit plan when the curtailment or settlement occurs.

When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in benefit that relates to
past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss account on the
carlier of amendment or curtailment.

The Company recognises the following changes in the net defined benefit obligation as an expensé¢ in the
Statement of Profit and Loss:
* Service costs comprising current service costs, past-service costs, gains and losses on curtailments and
non-routine settlements; and
e Net interest expense or income

Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the relative service is
provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid e.g., under short term cash bonus, if the
Company has a present legal or constructive obli gation to pay this amount as a result of the past service provided
by the employee, and the amount of obligation can be estimated reliably.

Compensated Absences
As per the leave encashment policy of the Company, the employees have to utilise their eligible leave during the

financial year and lapses at the end of the financial year. Accrual towards compensated absences at the end of the
financial year are based on last salary drawn and outstanding leave absence at the end of the financial year.

Accumulated leave, which is expected to be utilized within the next twelve months, is treated as short-term
employee benefit. The Company measures the expected cost of such absences as the additional amount that it
eXpects 1o pay as a result of the unused entitlement that has accumulated at the reporting date. The company
recognizes expected cost of short-term employee benefit as an expense, when an employee renders the related
service.
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The Company treats accumulated leave expected to be carried forward beyond twelve months, as long-term
employee benefit for measurement purposes. Such long-term compensated absences are provided for based on
the actuarial valuation using the projected unit credit method at the year end. Actuarial gains/losses are
immediately taken to the statement of profit and loss and are not deferred. The obligations are presented as current
liabilities in the Balance sheet if the entity does not have an unconditional right to defer the settlement for at least
twelve months after the reporting date.

M. Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or
equity instrument of another entity.

Financial Assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income (OCI), and fair value through profit or loss. The classification of financial assets at
initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the Company’s
business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Company has applied the practical expedient, the Company initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or

loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the
Company has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price determined under Ind AS 115.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through OCI, it needs to
give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount
outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective
of the business model.

The Company’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order
to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows while
financial assets classified and measured at fair value through OCI are held within a business model with the
objective of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.

Subsequent measurement

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at
- Financial assets at amortised cost
- Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

Financial assets at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions:

- the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows;
and

- the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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This category is the most relevant to the Company. After initial measurement, such financial assets are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate (EIR) method. Amortised cost is
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included in interest income in the Statement of Profit and Loss. The
losses arising from impairment are recognised in the profit or loss. The Company’s financial assets at amortised
cost includes trade receivables and unbilled revenue included under other non-current financial assets. For more
information on receivables, refer to Note 2.35.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost as described above are measured at FVTPL. On
initial recognition, the Company may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements
to be measured at amortised cost at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch
that would otherwise arise.

Derecognition

The Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Company neither transfers
nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and does not retain control of the financial asset.

If the Company enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its balance sheet but retains
either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets, the transferred assets are not
derecognised. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Company has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of
the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the company could be
required to repay.

Impairment of financials assets

In accordance with Ind AS 109, the Company applies expected credit loss (ECL) model for measurement and
recognition of impairment loss on the following financial assets and credit risk exposure:

e Financial assets that are debt instruments, and are measured at amortized cost €.g., loans, debt securities,
deposits, trade receivables and bank balance.

¢ Trade receivables or any contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset that result from
transactions that are within the scope of Ind AS 115.

ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the company in accordance with the
contract and all the cash flows that the entity expects to receive (i.e., all cash shortfalls), discounted at the original
EIR.

For trade receivables and unbilled revenue, the Company applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Therefore, the Company does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Company has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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For recognition of impairment loss on other financial assets and risk exposure, the Company determines that
whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition. If credit risk has not
increased significantly, 12-month ECL is used to provide for impairment loss. However, if credit risk has
increased significantly, lifetime ECL is used. If, in a subsequent period, credit quality of the instrument improves
such that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, then the entity reverts to
recognizing impairment loss allowance based on 12-month ECL.

The Company considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due.

The Company considers a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the
Company is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Company. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.

Lifetime ECL are the expected credit losses resulting from all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument. The 12-month ECL is a portion of the lifetime ECL which results from default events that
are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a

significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and borrowings, payables, as appropriate. All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs. The Company’s
financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings including bank overdrafts and financial
guarantee contracts.

Subsequent measurement

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial liabilities are classified in two categories:
- Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
= Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.
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Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss are designated as such
at the initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria in Ind AS 109 are satisfied. For liabilities designated as
FVTPL, fair value gains/ losses attributable to changes in own credit risk are recognized in OCL These gains/

losses are not subsequently transferred to Statement of Profit and Loss. However, the company may transfer the
cumulative gain or loss within equity. All other changes in fair value of such liability are recognised in the
Statement of Profit and Loss. The Company has not designated any financial liability as at fair value through
profit or loss.

Financial instruments are classified as a liability or equity components based on the terms of the contract and in
accordance with Ind AS 32 (Financial instruments: Presentation). Financial instrument issued by the Company
classified as equity is carried at its transaction value and shown within "equity". Financial instrument issued by
the Company classified as liability is initially recognised at fair value (issue price). Subsequent to initial
recognition, such Financial instrument is fair valued through the statement of profit or loss. On modification of
Financial instrument from liability to equity, the Financial instrument is recorded at the fair value of Financial
instrument classified as equity and the difference in fair value is recorded as a gain/ loss on modification in the
Statement of Profit and Loss.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

This is the category most relevant to the Company. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of profit and
loss. This category generally applies to borrowings.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet if there is a
currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis,
to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit and loss.

N.  Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalent in the balance sheet comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term deposits with
an original maturity of three months or less, that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value.
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O. Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision maker. The Board of Directors is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments and accordingly is identified as the chief operating decision maker.

1.4 Climate — related matters

The Company considers climate-related matters in estimates and assumptions, where appropriate. This assessment
includes a wide range of possible impacts on the Company due to both physical and transition risks. Even though
climate-related risks might not currently have a significant impact on measurement, the Company is closely
monitoring relevant changes and developments.
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Notcs to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025

(All amounts are in million of Indian Rupees except sharc data or unless otherwise stated)

As at As at
31 March 2025 31 March 2024

22 Other non-current assets
(unsecured, considered good)

-To parties other than rclated parties

Capital advances 14 200

Balance with government authorities 1

Prepaid cxpenses 15 -

Total 30 200
23 Other current assets

Prepaid expenscs 5 5

Staff advance 1} -

Advance lo suppliers & :

Total 9 5
24 Inventories

(Valued at lower of cost or net realisable value)

Medical consumables, drugs and surgical instruments 21

Total 21

Inventories are hypothecated against the loans laken by the company from banks and financial institutions. Refer note 2.11 for details.

25 Cash and bank balances
a) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash in hand | U
Balances with banks
- On cunent accounts 19 =3
Total 20 5

b) Bank balances other than (a) above
Depusits with remaining maturity less than 12 menths 45 -
Total 45 =

¢} Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

Particulars 1 April 2024 Cagsh flows 31 March 2025
Short tenn borrowings - 49 4

Lot tersn borrowings (inehuding current maturitics) 19 h74 1,403
Total liabilitles from fi ing actlvities 229 1,023 1.252

Particulars 1 April 2023 Cash flows 31 March 2024

Short term borrowings . -

Long term borrowings 229 229

Total linbilities from financing sctivities - 229 229
2.6 Other financlal assets (2t amortised cost)

(unsecured, considered good)

a) Non - current

-To partics other than related parties

Security deposils 41 =

Total 41 =

b) Current

-To partics other thun related parties

Unbilled revenue (Refer note 2.33) [0

Interest accrued on bank deposits | [

Interest accrued bul not due on unsecured loans i +

Total 10 1
2,7  Non-current tax assefs (net)

Advance lox (nct of provision for taxation) 0 1]

Total 1] 0
2.8 Loans (at amortised cost)

Loans to Others 28 -

28 -

Loans were granted ot an interest ratc ol 12% (31 March 2024: Nil), The Compauty has no loans which are either repayable on demand or arc without specifying any
tenns or period of repayment

0 represents less than Rs, 1 million




KIMS Manavata Hospitals Private Limited

CIN:UB5300MH2022PTC382434

Notes to the financial statements for the period ended 31st March, 2025

(All amounts are in million of Indian Rupees except share data or unless otherwise stated)

29

As at
31 March, 2025

As at

31 March, 2024

Trade receivables (at amortised cost)

(Unsccured)
Trude receivables - Considered good - Unsecured 63 -
Less: Allowance for expected credit loss -
63 =
Tradc reccivables - credit impaired - unsecured
Less: Allowance for credit impairment - -
63

Total

Trade Recelvables apeing schedule us on 31 March 2025

Total
Less: Allowance for expecled credit loss
Balance at the end of the year

Phrticulars Outstanding for following periads from due date of pavment Total
Current but Not due |Less than 6 months |6 months -1 year [1-2 vears 2-3 vears More than 3 years

(i) Undisputed Trade receivables-considored good 4] 22 - - - - 63

(ii) Undispuled Trade reccivables-significant incrcase - -

in credit risk - - - - "

(iii) Undisputed Trade rcccivables-credit impaired - - - - - - -

{iv}) Disputed Trade 1eccivables-considered good - - - - - =

(v1 Disputed Trade reccivables-significant i in - -

credit risk . ) R ) 2

(i) Disputied Trade weeivables-credit itpaired . - - 2 2 - z
63

No trade or other receivuble are due [rom direclors or other officers of the Company either severally or jointly with any other person, nor nny trade or other receivable are due from firms or privule

companies respectively in which any director is a portner, a director or a member.

Trade reccivables are non-interest bearing and generally on terms of 30 to 90 days.




KIMS Manavats Hospitals Private Limlted

CIN:UB5300MH2022PTC382434

Notes to the financial statements for (he ycur ended 31 March 2025

(Al umounts are in million of Indiun Rupees except share data or unless vlherwise stated)

Asal Asat
31 Minrch 2028 31 March 2024

2.10(u) Equity share capitul

Authorised Equity shares

2,000,000 {31 March 2024: 2,000,000) cquity shares of Rs. 10 each 20 20
pii] 20
Issued, subscribed and paid-up
1,000,000 (31 March 2024: 1,000,000) cquity shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid-up 10 (1]
10 10
{I)_Reconciliation of number of equitv shares ul He. 10 eiich, fally pitfd up g ot ihe biginibng and at the end of the yeir:
Particulars As at 31 March 2028 As at 31 March 2024
Numiber of shares Ampunt Number of shares Amiant
Al the commencement uf the year 10.00,000 10 10,00,000 1]
Add: Shares issued during the vear " . - =
Shares outstanding st the cnd of the year 100 000 in 10, 00,000 1]

() Rlghts, preferences and restrictions attached to equity shares
The Compuny has only one class of equity shares having par value of Rs. 10 per share. Each equity share holder is entitled to one vote per equity share held.In the event of liquidation of the

(iii) Particulars of sharcholders holding more than 5% cquity shares of Rs. 10 each, fully paid up

Name of sharcholder As at 31 March 2025 As at 31 March 2024

Number of sharcs % of holding Number of shares % of holding
Krishna lustitute of Medical Seiences Limited 5,10,000 51% 5,10,000 St
Raj Vasantrao Nagarkar 3.80,000 38% 3,820,000 38%

Praniyw Raj Nassrkar | M) s |, 160 00 {15

(v) Equily shares of Rs.10 cach, fully paid of the Company held by holding company

Nume of sharcholder As ut 31 Murch 2025 As ut 31 March 2024
Number of shures % of holding Number of shares % of holding
Bornabun sttt of Sledival Scivmees Linited 510000 5% £, L0000 S}

{v) The Company has not issued bonus shares from the date of incorpuration till the end of reporting period
) The Company has not bought back any shares from the date of incarporation till the end of reporting period

(vll) Details of shares held by Promolers *
Asat 31 March 2015

No of shares at 5 o, .
N d
S. No. Particulars Promoter name beginning of the Change during  No of shares at end % of (olnl shares % change during
iy the year ol the year the year
vl
Tiquivy shares ui' Rs, 10 cuch fuily pand Krishna Institute of Medical 5,10,000 - 5,10,000 51% D%
Sciences Limited
2 Equity shares of Rs, [0 cach fully paid Raj Vasamtrao Nagarkar 3,80,000 - 3,80,000 38% e
L] LEquity shares ol Rs, 10 each fully paid Prarthana Raj Nagarkar 1,00,000 - 1.00,000 10% 158
4 Equity dures of s, 10 cach [ully guisd Witen Baf Napurkar 10000 - 000 1% W
Tatal 10,1000 - 10,00, 000 { LI %%
* Promoters are as per ihe yhizrelinlding pattern,
Ax ut ¥ Marehi 2024
No of shares at N .
o di a
S. No. Particulars Promoter nume beginnlng of the S X (TR T TG % of to(ul shures " change during,
o the year ol (be year the year
, Liquily shares of Ks, 10 cach fuily paid Korishna |mstitute of Medical 5,10,000 - 5,190,000 51% M
Sciences Limited
i Equity shares of Rs. 10 cach tully paid Raj Vasanirao Nagarkar 1,80,000 - 13,80,000 A% M
3 Equily shares ot Rs, 10 cach (ully paid Prarthana Raj Nagarkar 1,00,000 - 1,00,000 10% oy
4 Eijulay shires oF Ra | U s Gy paid Virzis it Wagarkay LULLEAY - 10,060 1% 0ts
Tutul 10,00, 10 . 10,080,000 100 {1
* Promolers are as per the sharcholding pattern
2.10(b) Preference Share Capital
Authorised
Optionally convertible redeemable preference shares
99,000,000 (31 March 2024: 50.000,000) 0.001% optionally convertible redeemable preference shares of Rs. 10 cach, fully paid-up 990 500
Total 990 500
Issued, subscribed and pald-up
Optionally convertible redeemable preference shares
71,282,850 (31 March 2024: 49,000,000) 0.001% optionally convertible redeemable preference shares of Rs. 10 cach, fully paid-up 713 490
Total 713 490
i) Reconciligtion of mrmber of slisres autsiandi
Particulars As ut 31 Murch 2425 Ax ot 31 March 2024
Number of shares Number of shares
Amount Amount
Al the commenceiment of the year 4,90,00,000 490 1,75.00,000 175
Shres faaued dusing the yeay 220 82-R50 23 315,060,000 318

Shares outstanding al e end of the year 7,12, 52850 713 A00.00,00 490




KIMS Manavata Hospltals Private Limited

CIN:U85300MH2022PTC382434

Notes to the finuncial statements for the yeur ended 31 March 2025

(All minounts are in willion of Indian Rupees except share dala or unless otherwise stated)

1) Rights, preferences and restrictions attached to preference shares:

Optionally convertible redemable preference shifes IOCRPS) were issued it e i multiple tranches to its parciit vommipiny. Krishna Institute of Medical Sciences Limited and Rej Vasantrao
Nagarkar. OCRPS carry & dividend rate of 0,00 1%5 p 2. OCRDS have a preferentual right of dividend over equity wlzrhalders. Following are the terms and conditions:
4. The OCRPS can be converled into equity shares of Rs. 10/~ cach al par (i.c. cach OCRPS shall be converted into | (One} Equity Share) of the Company at any time afler the 1Sth year but
before 191h year from the dale of issuance and allotment of OCRPS al the option of the Company.
b, The OCRPS will be redecmable at the option of the Company cither of by way of : Conversion of OCRPS after |5th year bul before 19th year from the dalte of issuance and allotment or
al the end of 20th year (rom the date of*issuance,
¢. The OCRPS shall be entitled to participale in Il surplus assets and profits of the Company on winding up which may remain afler the entire capital hus been repaid, as per (he applicuble
laws.
d. The OCRI’S shall have voting rights only in respect of certain matters as per the provisions of section 47(2) of the Companics act 2013

(i) Particulurs of sharcholders holding more than 5% Preference shares of Rs. 10 each, fully paid up

As at
As at 31 March 2025 31 March 2024
LRI Number of shares % af holding Number of shares % of holding
Krishna Institute of Medical Sciences Limited 6,49,28,000 91% 4,90,00,000 100%
Rl Viusntrio Nagnerhic 63,594,830 iy . [

(Iv) Details of shares held by Promoters *
An ut 31 Mureh 028

No of shares at

Change during  No of shares at end % change during

S. No. i i Y
No. Particulars Promoter name begmr:i'::gror the the year of the yesr % of (otal shures the year
Preferonse shares of e 10 cach fully paid Krishna lotieite of Medica| 4,90,00,000 1.59.25,008 6,49,28,000 91% I
Sciencey Limited
il Preference shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid Raj Vasantrao Nogarkar = 63,54,850 63,54,850 9% 100!
| Tatal 4, LD DIH 712,82, 550 LIS

* Promoters are as per the slugehioliding pattern

Asaf 31 Blurch 2024

Nu of shares at

B ;
S. No. Particulars Promoter name beginning of the  change during

Change during  No of shares at end % of total shares
o

e the year of the year the year
| Preforence shares uf s 0 it fully paid Krishna Institute of Medscal 1.75,00,000 3,15,00,000 50,000, (R0 100% VB0 |
Selerites Limtad
Toual 1.75.00,000 3, LS. 0ih, 00 B0 D0 108"
* Promoters are as per il sharehinlding puticm
2.10(c) Other cquity As at As at
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
Capital Co ulion
Opening balance 224 224
Addittion during the year (Refer Note i below) -
Closing balance 224 224
Retained earnings
Opuning balunce (6) *)
Add: Loss for the year (Refer Noic ii below) am )
Add: Other comprehensive (lossyincome for the yeur
Closing balance [1EE]) (3]
Total other equity 41 218

Nature and purpose of reserves:

{I) Cupital coniribution

Financial guarantee contracts in relation o loans or other payables, if provided for no p ion by the sh I are as capilal contribution measured at fair vulue of such
Buammnice,

Durityy esrlier ey, Al Cotripany entered fito o Bind beuse agreemmy with M, 8aj Vaantrao Naparkar aind M. Prirtian Ratj Wagurkar {i,¢., promoter shareholder) at a concessional rate
lora peripd ol 3% o which the howpual building i being constructed. The Cuenpary bas obitained valuation reporl frem o independernt valugr for land lease, and the ROU assel has been
ucpantted for, st Gy valeee of Bond of Be 2300 The difference tetween this BOL sset sndd lease Tability han been recorgrrsed ax capital contribyition

(i) Retained earnings
Retained camings arc the

(net of apy iations) of Lhe Conipany earncd Lill dale, including items of other comprehensive income




KIMS Manavata Hospitals Private Limited

CIN:U85300MH2022PTC382434

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025

(All amounts are in million of Indian Rupees except share data or unless otherwise stated)

2.11 Borrowings (at amortised cost)

(a)

(b)

a

~

As at As at

31 March 2025 31 March 2024
Non-current borrowings
Secured
Term loans from bank
Term loans from bank (Refer note (a) below) 1,006 229
Total loans from bank 1,006 229
Unsecured
Loan from related party (refer note (b) below) (Refer note 2.26) 150 -
Total unsecured loans (B) 150 -
Total non-current borrowings 1,156 229
Current borrowings
Secured
Working capital loans from banks (Refer note c) 49 -
Term loans from bank
- HDFC Bank bank (Refer note (a) below) 47 -
Total current borrowings 96 =

Notes:

i) HDFC term loan facility -1-Rs 1,050 is secured by exclusive charge on entire current assets, medical equipments & entire fixed assets
along with mortgage on leasehold rights of hospital land. The loan carries an interest rate of Repo+ 2.10% per annum, currently at 8.60%
per annum. The loan is repayable in 90 months with initial 5 months moratorium.

ii) HDFC term loan facility - 2-Rs 3 is secured by exclusive charge on entire current assets, medical equipments & entire fixed assets along
with mortgage on leasehold rights of hospital land. The loan carries an interest rate of Repo+ 2.10% per annum, currently at 8.60% per
annum. The loan is repayable in 84 months with initial 12 months moratorium,

iii)AXIS Bank term loan facility is secured by the first charge on entire fixed assets of the Company along with mortgage on lease hold
rights of the hospital land owned by Mr Raj Vasantrao Nagakar and Mrs Prarthana Nagakar. The loan shall be repaid in 90 monthly
installments starting after moratorium period of 12 months. The loan carries an interest rate of Repo+ 2.15%, currently at 8.60% per annum
(31 March 2024 : Repo+2.15% per annum) which is takenover by HDFC Bank during the year

b) Unsecured loan from the related party as at 31 March, 2025 represents loans obtained from Krishna Institute of Medical Sciences Limited

and Mr Raj Vasantrao Nagarkar, both loans are carrying an interest rate of 8.60% - 12% p.a. and having repayable term of 1-3 years.

¢) Working capital loan from HDFC bank is secured by exclusive charge on entire current assets, medical equipments & entire fixed assets

along with mortgage on leasehold rights ot hospital land. 1he loan 1s repayable on demand and carries an interest rate ot Repo+ 2.1U% per
annum, currently at 8.60% per annum.




KIMS Manavata Hospitals Private Limited

CIN:U85300M H2022PTC382434

Notes to the [inancial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025

(All amounls are in million of Indian Rupees except share data or unless otherwise stated)

As at As at
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
2.12  Other financial liabilities (at amortised cost)
(a) Non-Current
Capital creditors 46 15
Interest accured but not due (Refer note 2.26) 8 =
Total 54 15
(b) Current
Capital creditors 306 5!
Employee related liabilities 0 0
Interest accured but not duc S 0
Total 311 51
2.13  Provisions
(a) Non-Current
Graluity (Refer note 2.25) [1] -
Total 0 =
(b) Current
Compensated Absence 2 -
Total 2 =
2.14  Trade payables (at amortised cost)
Trade payables
- total oulstanding ducs of micro enterprises and small cnterpriscs | -
- total outstanding ducs of creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises 66 |
Total 67 1
The above includes payable to related parties. (Refer note 2.26)
Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-90 day terms.
Trade Payabilc Ageing Schedule as on 31 March 2025
Particulars Current but not |Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment Total
due <1 vear 1-2 vears 2-3 vears Mare than 3 vears
(i) Total outstanding ducs of micro enlerpriscs and small
enterprises E 1 - E = 1
(ii) Total outstanding ducs of creditors other than micra|
cnterprises and small enterprises 25 41 - - . 66
(iii) Disputed dues of micro enterprises and small
enterprises : = = & = =
(iv) Disputed dues of creditors other than micro
enterprises and small enterprises - - - - - .
Balance at the end of the year 67
Trade Payable Apeing Schedule as on 31 March 2024
Particulars Current but not |Qutstanding for following periods from due date of pavment Total
due <1 vear 1-2 vears 2-3 vears More than 3 years
e ——
(i) Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small
coterpriscs & = - o < -
(ii) Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro
enterprises and small enterprises = = = = 1
(iii) Disputed dues of micro cnlerprises and small
enterprises - < - o - -
(iv) Disputed ducs of creditors other than micro
enterprises and small enterprises _ = = = _ .
Balance at the end of the year |
2.15  Other current liabilities
Statutory dues payable 7 2
Contract liabilitics (Refer note 2,33) k] -
Total 10 2

0 represents less than Rs. 1 million




KIMS Manavata Hospitals Private Limited

CIN:U85300MH2022PTC382434

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025

(All amounts arc in million of Indian Rupces cxcept share data or unless otherwise stated)

For the ycar cneded For the year eneded
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
2.16 Revenue from operations
A Revenuc from contract with customers
Revenue from medical and healthcare services (Refer note 2.33)
Revenuc from hespilal services 91 -
Revenue from phormacy 51 -
Total 142 =
B Other operating income
Other hospital income from corporates 2 -
Total 2
Total Revenue from operations (A+B) 144
2.17 Other Income
Interest income on:
- fixed deposits 3 0
- sccurity deposit 2 -
- loans to others 1 -
Total 6 0
2.18 Increase in inventories of medical consumables, drugs and surgical instruments
Opening stock - -
Less: Closing stock 2] -
Total (21) -
2.19 Employec bencfits expense
Salarics, wages and bonus 73 -
Conrtribution to provident and other funds (Refer note 2.25) 3 -
StalT welfare cxpenses 2 =
Total 8 =
2.20 Finance costs
Interest from banks, related party and others
- term loans 43 -
- related parties (Refer note 2.26) 8 -
- Others 4 -

Totul 55 -




KIMS Manavata Hospitals Private Limited

CIN:U85300MH2022PTC382434

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025

(All amounts are in million of Indian Rupees except share dala or unless olherwise stated)

For the year eneded For the year eneded
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
2.21 Depreciation and amortisation expense
Depreciation of property plant and equipment (Refer note 2.1(a)) 42 0
Amortization of intangible assets (Refer note 2.1(a)) 0 -
Amortisation of Right-of-usc asscts (Refer note 2.24) 1 -
Total 43 0
2.22  Other expenses
Consultancy charges 108 -
Housc keeping expenscs 11 -
Catering and patient welfare expenses 1 =
Power and fuel 15 -
Rent (Refer note 2.24) 4 -
Repairs and maintenance expenses
- Mcdical equipment I -
- Others 7 -
Audit fee (Refer Note below) 1 l
Legal and professional charges i 0
Printing and Stalionery 3 -
Rates and Taxes it} -
Insurunce ] -
Dircctor remuneration (Refer note 2.26) i 0
Bank Charges I -
Advertisement and publicity 9 -
Test and investigations 3 -
Miscelluneous expenses 4 -
Travelling expenses 1] =
171 1

Note Az Payment to auditors {excluding applicable taxes)

Particulars

For the ycar ended
31 March 2025

Fur the year endid|
31 Murch 2024

Audit fee
Qut of pockel cxpenses

1

(4]

1
0

0 represents less than Rs. | million




KIMS Manavata Hospitals Private Limited

CIN:U85300MH2022PTC382434

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025

(All amounts are in million of Indian Rupces except share data or unless otherwise stated)

2.23 Contingent linbilities and commitments

Commitments
Particolars As at Asal
31 March 2025 31 March 2024

1) Capital commitment
i) Eslimated amount of conlracts remaining Lo be executed on capital account and not provided for (nct 240 555
of pdvances)

2.24 Lease

Company as a lessee

The Company has land lease contract used in its operations with lease term of 99 years. The Company’s obligations under its Icasc is secured by the
lessor’s title to the leased assets

Leases of buildings with lease terms of 12 months or less and leases of office equipment with low value. The Company applies the ‘short-term lease’
and ‘Jease of low-value asscls’ recognition exemplions for these Ieases.

Scl out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised and the movements during the year:

Particulars Land Total

As at 01 April 2023 232 232
Less: Amorlization expense transferred to CWIP 2 2
As at 31 March 2024 230 230
Less: Amortization expense transferred to CWIP 1 1
Less: Amortization expense 1 1
As at 31 March 2025 228 228

The effective interest rate for lease lubilities is 7.65% with maturity between 2022-2121.

Sct out below arc the carrying amounts of lease liabilitics and the movements during the year:

As at As at
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
Opening balance 7 6
Addition = =
Accretion of interest 0 |
Payments -
Closing Balance 7 7
Current - =
Non-current 7 7
The following are recognised in capital work in progress*:
As at As at
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
Amortization expense of right-of-use assets | 2
Interest expense on lease liabilities 0 |
Total amount recognised in Capital work in progress 1 3
The following arc the s recognised in the statement of profit or loss*:
As at As at
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
Amottization expense of right-of-usc asscls 1 ~
Interest expense on lease liabilities 0 -
Expense relating to short-lerm leases and low-value assets (included in other expenses) 4 -
5 -

Total amount recognised in profit or loss

* The commercial vperations has commenced in the current year in the month of September 2025, As a result the inlerest on lease liability and
depreciation on ROU assets refated to lund up to September 2025 are recognised in capitul work in progress and bulunce interest on lease liubility und
depreciation on ROU assets related to land in statement of profit and loss

The Company had total cash outflows for Icases Rs.5 in 31 March 2025 (31 March 2024: Nil)

The initiation of lease puyments shall occur upon the commencement of the hospital's operations.

The table below provides details regarding the undiscounted contractual maturitics of lease liabilitics:

As at Asut
31 March 2025 31 March 2024

Within onc ycar - -
Belween one and five years 2 2
Afler more than five years 63 63

Total 65 65




KIMS Manavata Hospitals Private Limited

CIN:U85300MH2022PTC382434

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025

(All amounts arc in million of Indian Rupees except share data or unless othenwise stated)

2.25 Employec benefits

Dcfined benefit plan

The Company operale post-employment defined benefit plan that provides for gratuity. The Company accrues gratuity as per (he provisions of the payment of Gratuity Act, 1972 as applicable as
at the bulance sheet dute. The gratuity plan entitles on employee, who has rendered at leust five years of continuous services, to receive one-half month's salary for each year of completed services
at the time of refirement/exit. The Company's obligation in respect of gratuity plan, which is a defined benefit plan is provided for based on actuarial valuation carried out by an independent
actuary using the projected unit credit inethod.

A Bascd ou the actuarial valuation obtained in this respect, the following table sets out the status of the gratuity plan and the recognised in the Company's (i fal
statements as at the balance sheet date:
As at As ul|
Particular
[ SrUs 31 Murch 2025 31 Muren 2024
Defined benefit obligations liability ] -
Fair value of plan assets - -
Net defined benefit lability 0
Non-current 0 -
Current - -
B Reconciliation of net defined benefit obligation
The following table shows a reconciliation rom the opening balances to the closing balances for net defined benefit {assets)/liability and its components
I) Reconciliation of present value of defined benefit obligation
As ut As il
Particulurs
- 31 March 2025 31 March 2024
Defined benefit obligation as at beginning of the year - -
Current service cost 0 -
Interest cost 0 -
Actuarial (gains)/losses recognised in other comprehensive income
= Changes in finuncial assumptions 0
= experience changes 0 -
Delined benefit ohiigation ut the end of the year (1] =
ii) Reconciliation to fuir valul of plan assels
Puarticulury Asat Asul
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
T'lam assets at byginning of the year = E
Conuibutions puid into the plan - -
Interest income -
Benelits paid -
Return on plan assets -
Plan assets at ¢nd of the year -
Net defined benefit linhiiity = -
C HExp recognised in of profit and loss
For the year ended For the year ended|
Particulars h
i 31 March 2025 31 March 2024
Current service cost [ -
Interest on defined benelit obligation / plan assets (net) [1] -
Net gratuity cost, included in 'dmployes benefits’ 0 -
€ i) Re-mepsurements recognised in other comprehensive Income (OC1)
Particulars For the year ended For the year ended)
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
Actuarial loss on net delined benelil obligation 0 =
Avtunl retrn on plon nssets boss interest on plan dssets = -
D Plan assets
As at Asut
Particul
ibshiely 31 March 2025 31 March 2024
Fiind marged by Insirer = 5




KIMS Manavata Hospilals Private Limited
Notes to the financlal statements for the year ended 31 March 2025
(All amounts arc in million of Indian Rupees except share data or unless othenwise stated)

(iii)

E Defined benefit obligation
i) Acluarial assumplions

The following are the principal actuarial assumptions al the reporting date (exp d as weighled averages):
Principal netuarial nssumptions As at As it
31 March 2025 1 March 2024
Aliritian rte Medical - 12% 1o 42% N
Non-medical - 9% to 32%
Divcouni rate 6.55% NA
Salury escalation rale 8.00% NA
Indian Assured Lives Mortality
Mortality rate (2012-14) Ultimalc NA
Retiremment ugz 58 NA
Maturity profile of defined benefit obligation
Particulars Asat Asut
I1 Murch 2025 31 Mareh 2024
Ist following ycar 0 -
Year 2 o 5 years 0 -
Yearbto 9 yesrs 0 -
More thim 10 vears i -

The estimates of future salary increase considered in (he actuarial valuation takes inlo account factors like inflation, seniority, promotion and other relevant factors such es supply and demand in
the employment market. The expecled return on plan assets is based on actuarial expectation of the average long term rate of return expected on investments of the Funds during the estimated

term of the obligations.

Assumptions regurding future mortality and cxperience are sct in accordance with published rutes under Indian assured lives mortality 2012-2014. The discount rale is based on the prevailing
market yield in Indion government securilies as at balance sheet dute for estimated term of obligation

The average duration of the defined benefit plan obligation at the end of the reporting period is 6 yeors

il) Scnsitivity analysis

Reusonahly paskibie ehanges ut the reporting date to onc of the relevant actuarial assititinns wonld have aftected the defined benelit ohligation by the amaunts shown below-

Particulars For the year ended 3{ March 2025 Fur the year ended 31 March 2024

Inerense Decrease Increase Decrinse
Discount rate (1% movement) {m 1} - =
Fiiture saliry increase (1% mavement) o {0y z =

Although the analysis does not Lake account of the full distribution of cash flows expected under the plan, it does provide an approximation of the sensitivity of the nssumption shown.

For the vear ended

For the year cnded

Particulars
31 March 2025 31 Murch 2024
Amount recognised in the statement of profit and loss lowards
i) Provident fund 3 -
i) Employee stage i - =

benefits received P

ber 2020, The Code has been

|
ploy

The Code on Social Security, 2020 (‘Code’) relating to employee benefits during

and post

I
ploy

ial assent in Scp

published in the Gazette of India, Certain scctions of the Code camc into effect on 03 May 2023. However, the final rules/interpretation have not yet been issued, Based on a preliminary

assessmenl, Lhie enlily belicves the impact of the change will not be significant

0 represents less than Rs. | million
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Z-26 Related party disclosures

(a) Partics where control exists or where significant influence exists and with whom transactions have taken place during the current year or

previous year:

[Nasture of relationship

Name of related parties

Holding Company

Krishna Institute of Medical Sciences Limited

Directors =

Dr Bollineni Abhinay

Mr. Kodali Venkata Krishna Kumar

Mr. Ashish Mahendra Bhalgat (Joined w.c.f 06 August 2024)

Mr. Kaza Ratna Kishore (Joined w.c.f 23 November 2024)

Mr. Pratap Reddy Thammincni (Resigned w.c,f 30 Junc 2024)

Mrs. Pramecla Rani Yalamanchali (Joined w.r.f 16 December 2023 and Resigned
w.c.f30 Junc 2024)

Mr. Seshastinivasa Raju Chejarla (Resigned w.e.f 30 June 2024)

Clogse member of KMP

Mrs. Prarthana Raj Nagarkar- Wife of Managing Dircetor

Key Managerial Personnel (KMP)

Mr. Raj Vasantrao Nagarkar -Managing Dircctor

Mrs. Pooja Bang - Company Secretary

Mr. Sutapalli Padma Raju (resigned w,e f 30 November 2023)

Mr. Bommagani Madhukar - Chief Financial Officer {w.e.f 01 February 2024)

Entitics where KMP has significant influence

HCG Manavata Uncology LLP

b) Transaction with related parties

Particulars

For the year ended 31 For the year cnded 31

Muarch 2025 March 2024

i. Key Managerial Remuneration
Mrs. Pooja Bang
M. Sutapalli Padma Raju
Mr. Bommagani Madhukar

ii. Promoter's contribution towards Land on Lease
Mr. Raj Vasantrao Nagarkar and Mrs. Prarthana Raj Nagarkar

iii. Director Sitting fee
M. Kaza Ratna Kishore
Mrs. Prameela Rani Yalamanchali
Mr. Ashish Mahendra Bhalgat
Mr. Kodali Venkata Krishna Kumar
Mr. Seshasrinivasa Raju Chejarla
Mr. Pratap Reddy Thammineni

iv. Krishna Institute of Medical Sciences Limited
Loan reccived
Repayment of loan
Interest cxpenses on loan taken
Purchase of medical consumables, drugs and surgical instruments
Revenue from pharmacy

v. Mr Raj Vasantrao Nagarkar
Loan received
Interest expenses on loan taken

vi, HCG Manavata Oncology LLP
Reimbursement of Electricity Bill

cCcCc o

98

< O W

100

23

50
50

Tests and Inv ions
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(c¢) The balances payable to related parties

Particulars For the year ended 31 For the year ended 31
March 2025 March 2024

i. Key Managerial Remuneration payable
Mrs. Pooja Bang -
Mr. Bommagani Madhukar - 0

ii. Director Sitting fee Payable
Mr. Kodali Venkata Krishna Kumar
Mr. Seshasrinivasa Raju Chejarla
Mr. Pratap Reddy Thammineni
Mr. Bommagani Madhukar

(=== =)
0

iii. Krishna Institute of Medical Sciences Limited
Loan Payable 50 -
Interest accrucd on unsceured loan 2
Trade Payables 0 *

iv. Mr Raj Vasantrao Nagarkar
Loan Payable 100 -
Interest accrued on unsccured loan 6

Note: "0" represents less than Rs.1 million

Terms and conditions:

(i) Purchases/sales of healthcare services arc made from related partics on arm’s length basis and in the ordinary course of business. The Company mutually
negotiates and agrees the prices and payment terms with the related partics by benchmarking the same to the transactions with non-rclated partics. These
transactions generally include payment terms of 30 to 120 days from the date of invoice.

(ii) Trade receivables /payables are unsecured, interest free and require scttlement in cash. No guarantee or other sccurity has been reccived against these . The
amounts arc recoverable / payable within 30 to 120 days from the reporting date. For the ycar ended 31 March 2025, the Company has nol recorded any
impairment on reccivables duc from related parties.

(iii) The amounts disclosed in the table are the amounts recognised as an expense during the financial year related to KMP. The amounts do not include
expense, if any, recognised toward post-employment benefits and other long-term benefits of key managerial personnel. Such expenses are measured based on
an actuarial valuation. Hence, amounts attributable to KMPs are not separately determinable.

(iv) The Company has taken loans from Holding Company for general corporate purposes. These loans have been utilized for the purpose these were obtained.
The loans are unsecured, repayable in monthly instalments over a period of | to 3 years from the date of disbursement and carries interest at the rate of 8% -
12% (31 March 2024: 8%).

0 represents less than Rs. | million
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2.27  Earnings per share (EPS)

Basic EPS are calculated by dividing the profit for the year atiributable (o equily shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of Equity shares outstanding
during the year.

Piluted EPS amounts are caleulated by dividing the profit attributable Lo equity sharcholders of Company by the weighted average number of Equity shares outstanding during the year
plus the weighted average number of Equity shares that would be issucd on conversion of all the dilutive potential Equity shares into Equity shares

Particulars For the year ended For the year ended 31
31 March 2025 31 March 2024

Earnings
Loss for the year attributable to equity sharcholders (A) (239) )
Shares
Number shares at the beginning of the year 10,00,000 10,00,000
Add: Equity shares issued during the year - g
Total number of equity shares outstanding at the end of the year 10,00,000 10.00,000
Weighled average number of equity shares oulslanding during the year - Basic (B) 10,00,000 10,00,000
Weighted average number of equity shares arising out of issuc of potential equity shares 5,30,75,208 3,39.61,644
Weighted average number of equily shares outstanding during the year -diluted <) 5.40,75,208 3,49,61,644
Famings per share of par value INR 10 - Dasic (Rs. ) (A)/(B) (239.00) (0.71)
Eamninges per share of par value INR 10 - Diluted® (Rs. ) (A /(C) (239.00) {0.71}

*Patential cquity shares of the Company arc anti-dilutive in nature, hence, diluted camings per share is considered as cqual to basic camings per share in the current year and previous
year,

2,28 Segment information
The Bourd of Directors of the Comp
thus considered 1o be Chicf Operating Decision Maker.

y takes decision in respect of allocation of resources and assesses the performance basis the report/ information provided by functional heads and are

Bascd on the Company's business model, Medical and Healtheare services have been idered as a single busi for the purpose of making decision on allucation of resources
and assessing its performance. Accordingly, there are no separate reporiable segments in accordunce with the requirements of Ind AS 108 ‘Operating segment’ and hence, there are no
additional disclosures to be provided other than those already provided in the financial stalements. Presently, the Company's operations are predominantly conlined in Indis, The Company
is in the process of construction of building and hence there are no individual customer contributing more than 10% of Company’s total revenue, All non-current assets other (han financial

instruments of the Company are located in India,

2.29 Due to Micro and Smull Enterprises
The Ministry of Micro, Small and Medium Enlerprises has issued an ofTice memorandum dated 26 Augusi 2008 which recommends that the Micro and Small Lnterprises should mentien in
their correspondence with iis customers the Entrey s M dum Number as all d afer filing of the Memorandum. Accordingly. the disclosure in respect of the amounl payable
lo such enterprises as al 31 March 2025 has been made in the (inancial statements based on information received and available with the Company. lurther in view of the Managemenl, the
impact of interesl, i any, that may be payable in nccordance with the provisions of the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 (The MSMED Act') is nof expecled Lo
be malerial, The Company has nal received any claim lor interest [rom any supplier

As at As at
31 March 2025 31 March 2024

Purticulars

The amounts remaining unpaid 10 micro and small supplics as ot end of the year
- Principal I
- Interest
The amoual of interest poid by the buyer in lerms of Section 16 of the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Develop Acl, -
2006 (27 of 2006), along with the amounl of the payment made to the supplicr beyond the appointed day during cach) 2
accounting yvar;

The smount of inlerest due and payable for the period of delay in making payment (which has been paid but beyond the
appointed day during (he yeor) but without adding the interest specified under (he MSMED Act;
The amount of interest acerued and remaining unpaid at the end of ench accounting year; and - z

The amount of further interest remaining duc and payable even in the succeeding years, until such date when the interest dues
as above are actually paid to the small enterprises for the purpose of disall as a deductible expendi under Section 23 : .
of the MSMED Act,
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2.30

Capital management

The Company’s policy is to maintain a stable capital base so as to maintain investor and creditor confidence and to sustain future
development of the business. Management monitors capital on the basis of return on capital employed as well as the 'net debt' to 'total

equity’ ratio.

*For this purpose, net debt is defined as total borrowings, less cash and cash equivalents. Total equity comprises of issued share capital

and all other equity reserves.

The Company's net debt to equity ratio as of 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024 was as follows:

Particulars* As at
31 March 2025

As at
31 March 2024

Total borrowings 1,252 229
Less: Cash and cash equivalents 20 5
Net debt 1,232 224
Total equity 764 718
Net debt to equity ratio 161% 31%

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during and for year ended 31 March 2025 and 31

March 2024.

In order to achieve this overall objective, the Company’s capital management, amongst other things, aims to ensure that it.meets
financial covenants attached to the interest-bearing loans and borrowings that define capital structure requirements. Breaches in meeting
the financial covenants would permit the bank to immediately call loans and borrowings. There have been no breaches in the financial

covenants of any interest-bearing loans and borrowing during the current and previous year,
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2.31

Financial instruments : Fair value and risk management

A. Accounting classliication and fair values

As at 31 March 2025 Carrying Value Fisir Value Fair value level
Flnancial asscts at amortised cost (Refer note below)

I'made receivables 63 63

Cash and cush equivalents 20 20

Bank balances other than above a5 45

Other financial assets ]! 3l
Fatal 179 179 Tevel 3
Fimancizl lisbilities at amortised cost (Refer note below)

Borrowings 1,252 1,252

Lease liabilities 7 7

Trade payables 68 68

Other financial liabililies ns I
Totul 1.692 [
As at 3 Mareh 2024 Carrying Value Fair Value Falr valud level
Finuncial asscts al amortised cost (Refer note below)

Trade reccivables

Cash and cash equivalents 3 5

THank balahces ather than above ¢

Other financial assets '] 1]
Tatal 5 5 level 3
Financial liobilities at amorfised cost (Refer note below)

229 229

Lense liabilities 7 7

Trade payables 1 |

Other financial liabilities [
Tatal T

B. Financial risk management

(a) The fair values for louns were caleulated based on cash flows discounted using  current lending rale. They are classified as level 3 fair values in the fair value hicrarchy due 1o (he inclusion of
unobservable inputs including counterparty credit risk.

(b) The fair values of long term borrowings and lease liabilities are based on discounted cash flows using a cunient borrowing rate. They are classified as level 3 fair value hicrarchy duc to the use of
unobscrvable inputs including own credit risk

(c) The fair values of trade receivables, trade payables, other financials assels, other financial liabilitics, current borrowings, cash and cash cquivalents and bank bulances other than cash and cash
equivalents me considered to be the same as their carrying amounts, due to their short-term nature.

{i) Risk manugement framework

I'he Company’s Doard of Directors has overall responsibility for the i and oversight ol the Company’s risk management framework. The Company’s risk management policics are
estublished w identity und analyse the risks fuced by the Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls and to manitor risks and adherence to limits, Risk management policies and systems arc
reviewed 1egularly to reflect changes in markel condilions and the Comp:my s aclivilics,

The Compuny's buard of dircelors oversees how with the Company’s risk policies and p and revicws fhe adequacy of the risk management
framewaork in relation 1o the risks faced by the Company. The board of dircctors is assisied in its oversight role by internal audit Imcm:nl audit undertakes both regular and ad-hoc reviews of risk
controls and p dures, the results of which are reported Lo the board of directors.

(ii) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty witl not meet its obligation under a financial instroment or customer conliract, leading to financial loss. The credit risk oriscs principally from ils operating

activities und [rom its investing activitics, including other finunciul instruments. The currying umounts of finuncial ussels rep ( the i credit risk cxpe
Credil 1isk is controlled by analysing credit limits and credi thiness of ona i basis (0 whom credit has been granted after obtaining necessary approvals for credit, The collection
from the trade bles ure itored on a i basis by the r bles leam,

The Company eslablishes an allowance for credit loss that represents its cstimate of expecied losses in respeet of trade and unbilled revenue based on the past and the recent collection trend, The
maximum exposute to eredit risk as at reporting date is primarily from trade receivubles amounting to INR 69 as on 31 March 2025 (31 March 2024 : INR Nil), The movement in allowance for credit
loss in respect of trade receivables durmg the year was as follows:

Asat As at
Alavance far eriedit leses 31 Mareh 2025 11 March 2024
Opening balare = -
Credis loss added - 3

Closnig balance
Trade reccivable write off not routed through the above movement - -

The Company wses a provision marix to determine the expecied credit loss on the portfolio of its trade receivubles und unbilled revenue, The provision matrix is based on its historically observed defauit
rates over the expected life of the trade receivables and contract assets and is adjusted for forward looking esti The exy d eredit loss all is based on (he ageing of the days the reccivables
are duc in lhe provision motrix. Sel out below is the information about the credit risk exposure of the Company’s (rade receivables and unbilled revenue using provision matrix

0-180 days due past More than 180 days  Gross trade receivables

Not past duc due date past duc dute und unbilled revenue

For the year ended 31 March 2025 37 22 . 9
leud 31 March 2074 . N - .

BFor the

Customer Concentration
No single customer represents 1% or more of the company’s total revenuc during the year ended 31 Murch 2025, Therefore the customer concentration risk is limiled due to the lurge and unreluicd
customer base.

Credit risk on cash and cash equivalent is limited us the company generally transacts with banks and financial institutions with high credil rtings assigned by intemational and domestic credit rating
agencies
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231 Flnancial Instruments : Fair value and risk management (continued)

(1) Liguidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligalions associated with its financial liabilities that arc seitled by delivering cash or another financial asset, The

The able below provides details regarding the malurities of signifi as of 31 March 2025:

Particolars Carrving value Less than | year 1-5 veary Mure than § veary Total
Long-term borrowings (including current maturities) 1,203 49 598 565 1,212
Short-lenn borrowings 49 19 - - 49
Trade payables 68 68 - - 68
Lcase liabilities 7 - 2 63 65
Chher fiauncial Haliilities s 323 43 13 35k
Patal 1,692 391 [Ah] 643 1,778
The tnble below provides details regarding the undi maturitics of significant financial liabilitics as of 31 March 2024:

Partivulurs Currying value Lass than | vear 1-5veurs Mure than 3 veurs Tutal
Long-lerm borrowings (including current maturities) 229 - i} 149 a0
Short-term borrowings - - - -
Trade payables I | - 1
Leasc lisbilitics y - 63 65
Hleer firidncinl lalbilities o 31 - fify
Futul 3 7] 12 £l

The Compuny has secured loans from bunk that contain loan covenants, A future breach of covenants may require the Company to repay the loan carlier than indicated in the above table

(Iv) Markei risk
{(n) Interest rate risk exposure

Interest rate risk is the risk (hat the fair value or fulure cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctunte because of changes in markel inierest rales. The Company's exposure to the risk of changes in
markel inlcrest rates relates primarily (o the Company’s long-term with variable interest rates,

The expusire of e Comjian"s Borowing o iiterest e chinges ut i eid of the fepurtlng picod orc as follows:

Particulars As at Asat
31 Murch 2025 31 March 2024
Vanithle rate i teamn bogiowinus 1203 229
ul burrowings 1203 pil)

(b} Canh Now sewvilvliy analyals

Impact on profit or lisy

Equity, nel ol fux

Harticalary Asat31 March 2025__ Asat 31 March 2024__ As at 31 March 2025 As at 31 Mareh 2024
Senitivity

1% increasc in MCLR (12) 2) 9 (2)
1% decreuse in MCLR 12 2 Y 2

I'he interest rate sensitivily is based on the closing balance of secured term loans

(v) Currency risk
The Company is not expased lo currency risk
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2.32 Income-tax
a. Amount recognised in statement of profit and loss

For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
Current tax - -
Delerred tax attributable to temporary differences (62) -
Tax expenses for the year (62) -
b. Amount recognised in other comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 March 2025 For the year ended 31 March 2024
Before tax Tax (expense)/ Net of tax Before tax Tax (expense)! Net of tax
benefit benefit
Re-measurement on defined benefit plans 0 0 0 - -
¢. Reconciliation of cffective tax rate
For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
Loss before tax (239) Q)]
Enacted tax rales 25.17% 25.17%
Tax expense at enacted rates (60) -
Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible/ (taxable) in calculating taxable income
Others (2) »
Total (62) =
Elfective tax rates 25.94% 0.00%
d. Recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities
(i) Deferred tax aysets and liabilities are attributable to the following
Particulars As at As at
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
Delerred tax asset
Provision for employce benefits 1 -
Business loss 108 -
Total deferred tax asset 109 -
Deferred tax liability
Property, plant and equipment (liability) 44 -
Others ; 3
Total deferred tax liability 47 -
Deferred tax asset (net) 62 -
(i) Movement in temporary differences
Particulars Property, plant and  Provision for  Business loss Total
equipment employee Others - Tinbility
beneflits
Balance as at | April 2023 - - - -
Recognised in profit or loss - - - - -
Recognised in OCI - - - - =
Balance as at 31 March 2024 - - - - =
Recognised in profit or loss (44) 1 108 3) 62
Recognised in OCI - 0 - - 0
Balance as at 31 March 2025 (44 1 108 (3) 62

0 represents less than Rs. 1 million

a3 [CH\RTERE

o \ACC!
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233 Revenue from contracts with customers:

Disaggregated revenue information
Set out below is the disaggregation of the Company's revenue from contracts with customers:

For the year ended For the year ended 31

Particulars 31 March 2025 March 2024
Revenuce from hospital services 91

Revenue from pharmacy 51 0
Total revenue from contracts with customers 142 0
India 142 0

Outside India = =

Timing of revenue recognition

Services transferred over time 91 -
Goods transferred at a point of time 51 0
Total revenue from contracts with customers 142 0

Reconciliation of revenuc recognised with the contracted price is as follows:

Contract price 162
Less: Discounts and disallowances 20 -
Total revenue from contracts with customers 142 -

Contract bhalances

Particulars As ut 31 March 2025 As at 31 March 2024
Trade receivables 63 -
Unbilled revenue 6
Contract liabilitics . 3

Contract liabilities: During the financial year ended 31 March 2025, the Company has recognised revenue of Rs.Nil from advance received from
paticnts outstanding as on 31 March 2024. During the financial year ended 31 March 2024, the company has recognised revenuc of Rs. Nil from
advance received from patients outstanding as on 3| March 2023.

Unbilled revenuc: During the financial year ended 31 March 2025, the company has transferred Rs. Nil of unbilled revenuc as at 31 March 2024 to trade
receivables on completion of performance obligation. During the financial year ended 31 March 2024, the company has transferred Rs. Nil of unbilled
revenue as al 31 March 2023 to trade receivables on completion of performance obligation

2.34 The Company did not have any long term contracts including derivative contracts for which there were any material foreseeable losses. The Company
does not have any unhedged foreign currency exposure as at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024.
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2,35 Ratio Analysis and its elements

Particulars Numerator Denominator As at As at % change*

31 March 31 March

2025 2024
a) Current Ratio Current Assets Current Liabilities 0.40 0.18 130%
b) Debt-Equity ratio Total Debtst"” Sharcholder's Equity 1.65 0.33 401%
L] Debt scrvice coverage ratio Eamings for debts serviec™ Debt serviec™ (.21 NA 100%
d) Return on Equity Ratio Net profits after taxes Average Sharcholder’s cquity -23.89% -0.13% 18274%
) Inventory Turnover Ratio Cost of Goods sold Average Inventory 2.00 NA 100%
) Trade Receivable tunover Ratio Net Credit Sales® Average Trade Receivables 2.29 NA 100%
g) Trade Payable tumover Ratio Net credit Purchases™ Average Trade Payables 6.88 NA 100%
h) Net Capital tumover ratio Net Sales® Working capimlm (0.49) NA 100%
i) Net Profit ratio Net profit Net Sales® -122.92% NA 100%
i Return on Capital employed Earnings before interest and taxes Capital Employcd® -10.74% -0.07% 15241%
k) Retumn on Investment Interest (Finance Income) Time weighted average in 6.00% NA 100%

B

) Debt includes Lease Linbilities

@ Net profil after taxes + Non-Operating expenses

@ Interest and lease payments + Principal Repayments

“ Gross credit sales - sales return

) Gross credit purchases - purchase returns + other expenses

@ Total sales - sales return

) Current assets - Current liabilitics
*) Tangible Net Worth + Total Debts + Deferred Tax Liabilitics

* Changes in the ratios is duc to change in the business opcrations during the year.
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2.36 Other Statutory Information

2.3

2.3

il

o

(i) The Company do not have any Benami property, where any proceeding has been initiated or pending against the Company for holding any Benami property.

(iiy The Company do not have any transactions with companies struck off.

(iii) The Company do not have any charges or satisfaction which is yel Lo be registered with ROC beyond the statutory period.

(iv) The Company have not traded or invested in Crypto currency or Virtual Currency during the financial year.

(v) The Company have not advanced or leaned or invested funds to any other person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (Intermediaries) with the understanding that the

Intermediary shall:
(a) directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the company (Ultimate Beneficiaries) or

(b) provide any guarantee, security or the like to or on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries

(vi) The Company have not received any fund from any person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (Funding Party) with the understanding (whether recorded in writing or
otherwise) that the Company shall:
(a) dircctly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entilies identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party (Ultimate Beneficiaries) or

(b) provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficianes,

(vii) The Company have not any such transaction which is not recorded in the books of accounts that has been surrendered or disclosed as income during the year in the tax
assessiments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 (such as, search or survey or any other relevant provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961,

(viii The Compuny has not been declared wilful defaulter by any bank or financial institution or govemment or any government authority.

(ix) The Company has not declared/paid any dividend during the year.

The Company has migrated to a new accounting software from legacy accounting software during the year on 01 September 2024, The accounting softwares used for maintaining
ils books of account has a [cature of recording audit trail (cdit log) facilily and the same has operated throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the soflwares,
excepl in respect of new accounting software the audit trail feature is not enabled at the database level from 01 September 2024 to 25 March 2025. Further no instance of audit
trail feature being tampered with was noted in respect of the accounting softwares where the sudil trail has been cnabled. Additionally, the audit trail of prior year has been
preserved by the Company as per the statutory requirements for record retention to the extent it was enabled and recorded in the respective year.

Events after the reporting period

There are no significant adjusting events that occurred subsequent to the reporting year.

for S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP for and on behalf of the Board of Dircetos of
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